1952

State of Utah v. Leo Mills : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

This is the only evidence in the entire record that tends to connect the defendant with the offense.

The evidence did disclose that the defendant and prosecutrix were acquainted with each other in that they were employed at the same place, the sturdevant's home on East South Temple, for a period of about 2½ months prior to the time in question, yet there is nothing in that acquaintance that indicated

anything out of the ordinary between them.

On direct examination, the prosecutrix made the following statement:

Q. Barbara, have you had some sexual education in school, and in your home? A. Yes, I have. (Lines, 18, 19 & 20, T. 51).

and on cross examination she testified:

Q. Do you ever go out with boy friends?

A. Yes. (T. 55, lines 7 and 8).

The defendant testified in his own behalf, (T. 63 to 74), wherein he gave a full and complete account of his activities on October 29th and 30th, the substance of which is as follows.

The defendant had been on his vacation for a week and was planning to spend a week in Los Angeles before returning to work. On the morning of the 29th he started to repair his car for the trip and packing his things.

He lived at 279 West 3rd South with his wife and three children. About 4 P. M. on the 29th he and his wife went to the State Finance Company and borrowed \$140.00 with which to make the trip. (See Exhibit 1). Upon return from the Finance Co., he finished repairing the heater on his car while his wife prepared dinner, they had dinner around 6:30 or 7 o'clock after which Mr. and Mrs. Mills went to Grand Central Market on 9th South and Main Street where they did some shopping, leaving there about 8 o'clock and went to the Liquor Store and then back home. Shortly after arriving home this time some friends dropped in and they had a party which lasted until after mid-night. Mr. and Mrs. Mills carried the last of these friends, Henry Colding, home between 12:30 and 1 o'clock A. M. October

30th, after which they returned home and she did some ironing while he took a Nap before leaving for California at Four that morning.

This story is corroborated by the testimony of Mrs. Mills, (T. 56 to 63; Henry Colding 82 to 85; Bernard Gordon 78 to 82; Marion Mills, 75 to 78).

The District Attorney attempted to discredit the testimony of Mrs. Mills and Marion, on the theory that they were the wife and son of the defendant. I can conceive of a woman perjuring herself for her husband in some cases, but this is the type of case where you don't find wives coming to the rescue to protect a husband whom she suspects of being unfaithful; while on the other hand, any woman would be less than a wife if she did not come to the rescue when she knows her husband was, in fact, by her

side at the time he is accused of being unfaithful. Marion, the son, was an honor student in High School and at one time an Honor Member of this Court, to which this court can take judicial notice, He testified that when he came home from work about 11:30 that night, his father and some more people were in the front room playing cards, or something.

Bernard Gordon and Henry Colding are both totally disinterested witnesses. They are the ones that called at the Mills home that evening and played cards and had some drinks, they couldn't be mistaken as to who was there. The District Attorney tried to make it appear that the occassion could have been some other time, but the evidence is very clear and convincing as to the date or time in question. Both Gordon and Colding were very positive that it was the night before Mills

left on his vacation. The reason for Gordon's being there was to collect a bill before Mills got away, and Colding went there purposely to celebrate his leaving.

Williams vs State is a case directly in point. There the prosecutrix positively identified the defendant as being the man that attacked her. Three other witnesses positively identified the defendant as being the man they saw under circumstances pointing to his guilt. The defendant and several of his witnesses testified as to his whereabouts at the time of the offense was being committed. The defendant was convicted and in reversing the conviction, the court said: at page 538,

"It is true that this has held many times that there is no rule of law which forbids a jury to convict for the crime of rape on the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix, provided they are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the truth of her testimony. It does not follow

however, that a conviction upon such testimony is to be arbitrarily sustained under all circumstances..... This court does not hold with some that, as a matter of law, rape cannot be established by the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix, but in common with all courts recognize that, without such corroboration, her testimony must be clear and convincing. And, where the testimony of the prosecutrix bears upon its face inherent evidence of improbability, there should be corroboration by other evidence, connecting the defendant with the commission of the crime. The law is that the life or liberty of a citizen shall be taken only in case the right to do so is established beyond all reasonable doubt; and while there is no law which forbids a jury to convict of rape on the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix, provided they are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the truth of her testimony, yet the courts have always recognized the danger of conviction on her uncorroborated testimony, and the testimony of the prosecutrix, if inherently

improbable and uncorroborated, will not justify or support a conviction; as the only reasonable conclusion in such cases is that such verdicts are the result of passion or prejudice, and therefore contrary to law."

In describing the testimony of the prosecutrix the court used the phrase "Inherently improbable." In the case at bar the prosecutrix is a teen-age girl with sex education and goes out with boys. On matters of this kind girls are prone to be untruthful and will go to almost any length to conceal and protect their boy friends. In this case Barbara started out with a falsehood on her lips; she told her parents she was going to mutual when she knew she was going on a date. She went on a date and when she was called in question about it she named a man she only knew a few weeks before, whom she had met at work. There was no petting or other

signs of affection at work, other than knowing each other at work, there was no association between them; they had not been out on dates before and knew practically nothing of each other except seeing each other at work. In this we claim that it is inherently improbable that this girl would play hooky from Church and go on a date with a stranger without knowing where she was going or what for. It is more likely she had a date with some of her boy friends whom she knew and with whom she had been out with before and when she got caught in her sins she had to find a scape goat on whom to place the blame.

This brings us to Point 2.

THE JURY OBVIOUSLY DISREGARDED THE COURT'S
INSTRUCTIONS

In Instruction No. 5, T. 14, the court instructed the jury as follows,

- * I instruct you that the accusation made against the defendant is one easy to make and hard to defend against. Consequently it is your duty to examine the evidence given by Barbara Broadwater with care and caution and give it such weight and credence as you believe the testimony of the witness is entitled to under all the facts and circumstances of the case.*

And in instruction No. 6, T. 15, the court said:

- * I instruct you that the defendant is a competent witness in his own behalf, and his testimony should be received and given the same consideration as you give that of any other witness. The fact that he stands accused of crime is no evidence of his guilt and is no reason for rejecting his testimony. However you should weigh his testimony the same as you weigh the testimony of any other witness.*

Instruction No. 9, T. 16, after defining reasonable doubt and other matters, concluded

with this paragraph;

" To warrant you in convicting the defendant, the evidence must, to your minds, exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of the guilt of the defendant. That is to say, if after an entire consideration and comparison of all the testimony in the case, you can reasonably explain the facts given in evidence on any reasonable ground other than the guilt of the defendant, you should acquit him."

Now if the court will review the testimony again it will reveal the following comparisons.

1. At the time Barbara says the defendant called her at her home, the testimony shows he of defendant and his wife, was having dinner.

2. At the time she says he picked her up at 2nd East and Whitlock Avenue, the defendant and his wife were at Grand Central Market, 9th South and Main Street, according

To their testimony.

3. At the time she says she was being ravished by the reservoir, some time around 11 o'clock to 1 o'clock A. M., the testimony of Mrs. Mills, Marion Mills, Bernard Gordon, the Barber, Henry Colding and the defendant shows that he was at home having a party.

and 4. At the time she says she got home around 4:30 or 5 o'clock that morning the defendant had been gone at least an hour on his way to Los Angeles.

There were Four(4) credible witnesses who corroborated the testimony of the defendant against none for the prosecutrix. With this state of the evidence, upon what theory can it be said that the jury paid any attention to the court's instructions or the evidence of the defendant?

The answer is plain, the jury arbitrarily took the testimony of the prosecutrix, and totally disregarded all other evidence and instructions of the court, and convicted defendant, and as stated by the Oklahoma court in Williams vs State, " the only reasonable conclusion to be reached is that the verdict was the result of passion or prejudice, and therefore contrary to law".

In Bufford vs State, 141 So. 359, the Supreme Court of Alabama said,

" Notwithstanding inconclusive and speculative circumstantial evidence supporting manslaughter conviction, appellate court should vacate verdict outweighed by facts, probabilities and exculpatory circumstances."

POINT 3.

A VERDICT BASED ON PREJUDICE OR PASSION SHOULD BE SET ASIDE.

This proposition is a truism that need no authorities in support.

As pointed out above in the Williams case, the jury obviously disregarded the evidence and the court's instructions and the only reasonable explanation for such is prejudice and passion. As pointed out by the court in its instructions No. 5, this kind of charge is easy to make and hard to defend. It is the kind of case that naturally raises the animosity and prejudice in people anywhere and at any time, and especially so where a Negro man and White woman are involved. This being the case, we respectfully submit that the court erred in denying defendant's motion for a new trial and that the same should be reversed and remanded.

Respectfully submitted,

D. H. Oliver

Attorney for Appellant.