1952

State of Utah v. Leo Mills : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Leo Mills, defendant and appellant herein, was charged with the crime of carnal knowledge. His trial was had before a judge and jury in the Third District Court. By a unanimous verdict the jury found defendant guilty as charged, and judgment was entered by the court accordingly.

Appellant attacks the verdict as being contrary to the preponderance of the evidence. He avers the jury disregarded the

Court's instructions numbers five, six and nine. He further alleges that the verdict was the result of passion and prejudice.

The prosecutrix at the time of the offense in question was a girl seventeen years of age. (Tr. 41). She testified that on the night of October 29th, 1951, defendant took her, in his car, to a place near the eastern terminus of 21st South Street, in Salt Lake City, where "he made me take off my pants and get in the back seat of the car." (Tr. 51). Defendant at this time had sexual intercourse with prosecutrix, rupturing the hymen. (Tr. 46-53, 53-56).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

II.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE JURY DISREGARDED THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS.

III.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE VERDICT IS BASED ON PASSION AND PREJUDICE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

Appellant attacks the verdict as being contrary to the preponderance of the evidence. In *State v. Montgomery*, 37 Utah 515, 109 P 815, a case where a conviction of carnal knowledge was upheld, the court at page 816, said:

* * * Concerning the contention that the judgment is not sustained by sufficient evidence, it is sufficient to say that the evidence with regard to the sexual act is in direct conflict. The prosecutrix most emphatically stated in her testimony that the appellant, on or about the 16th day of August, 1908, had sexual intercourse with her while she and he were out riding together in his buggy; that she never had sexual intercourse with any one else either before or after the act in question, while appellant, upon the other hand, just as emphatically denies such intercourse either on that occasion or at any other time. There are some facts in evidence which, to some extent, tend to corroborate the prosecutrix, while the evidence in corroboration of appellant's claims is much stronger. In view of the circumstances there is no escape from the conclusion that neither the prosecutrix nor the appellant could be mistaken with regard to whether the sexual act took place or not. They either had or did not have the sexual intercourse as testified to by the prosecutrix. This, no doubt, is the view the jury entertained, and thus concluded that, under all the circumstances, the statements of the prosecutrix were more worthy of belief than were those of the appellant and his witnesses, none of whom,

except the appellant, were present when the alleged offense was committed.

* * *

* * * If there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, we are powerless to interfere with it, except upon questions of law. This is the clear import of our Constitution and has become the settled policy of this court as appears from the following, * * * (Citing Cases).

The evidence in the instant case is in direct conflict with regard to the sexual act. Prosecutrix testified that defendant had sexual intercourse with her. At page fifty-one of the record she says:

A. Well, after I got in the back seat he took off his pants, and then got on top of me.

Q. Did he have sexual intercourse with you at that time?

A. Yes, I could feel something go in at that time, and it hurt a lot.

The testimony of Dr. Joseph R. Evans, corroborates prosecutrix as to the fact of copulation. (Tr. 55).

MR. OLIVER: Yes, I will stipulate to the testimony of the doctor.

MR. TUFT: May it be stipulated Dr. Joseph R. Evans, a medical doctor, with offices and his practice in Salt Lake City — if he were called on behalf of the State he would testify that on the morning of October 30, 1951, he performed an examination of the person of [prosecutrix], at his office; that on said examination he found that there had been a

rupture of the hymen; that there was an inflammation of the cervix; and that he found both in the interior and exterior of her body substances which appeared to him to be at that time male spermatozoa; that he took from the body of [prosecutrix] samples of said specimens and submitted them to a laboratory for examination; that the laboratory report returned to him showed that in truth and fact the said substances were male spermatozoa; that from his examination he concluded that the said [prosecutrix] had engaged in an act of sexual intercourse.

Prosecutrix also positively identified defendant as the man who had sexual intercourse with her on the night in question. (Tr. 47-52).

Defendant testified that he did not have sexual intercourse with prosecutrix on the night in question, nor had ever had intercourse with prosecutrix. (Tr. 74).

Appellant testified that he was at home the night of the offense, and that he left for California on a vacation early in the morning of the next day. (Tr. 63-71). This story, appellant claims is corroborated by the testimony of Mrs. Mills, his wife. She testified that she was home with defendant the night of the offense and that he left for California about four o'clock the morning of October 30, 1951. (Tr. 59-63). With reference to the testimony of Mrs. Mills, the court's attention is invited to that of Officer Jackson, who went twice to the home of defendant the same night Mrs. Mills says defendant was at home. His testimony is as follows: (Tr. 86, 87).

Q. Are you testifying now you did go to the home of the defendant?

- A. I testify I did go to the home of the defendant.
- Q. At what time?
- A. It was a little after 2:00 o'clock.
- Q. Did you go in the home?
- A. I went to the door of the home.
- Q. Did you make any observation as to the light or darkness?
- A. The home was in darkness.
- Q. Did you have occasion to go back again to that home on that evening?
- A. I did.
- Q. At what time, Officer Jackson?
- A. It was about 3:00 o'clock.
- Q. And was anyone with you?
- A. Yes, the father of [prosecutrix].
- Q. Will you state what occurred at the time you went to the home the second time?
- A. The second time I went to the home, [the father of prosecutrix] was with me. I got out of my car, the police car, and went to the door and knocked, and when I knocked quite vigorously — I had to knock quite vigorously to wake up the occupants; and when I knocked at the door a little while later came down to the door Mrs. Leo Mills in an apparel of a kimona.
- Q. Did you have occasion to inquire as to the whereabouts of the defendant?

A. I asked Mrs. Mills where the defendant, Mr. Mills, was at that time.

Q. Did you make known who you were?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. And what did she answer you?

A. She said she was surprised to know where he was. She didn't know where he had gone.

Defendant further relies on the testimony of Henry Colding, (Tr. 82-85), Bernard Gordon, (Tr. 78-82), and his son, Marion Leon Mills, (Tr. 75-78), in attempting to establish his presence at his own home the night of the offense. It is to be noted that, excepting the testimony of the son, (Tr. 76), none of this evidence establishes that it was the night of October 29th, 1951, that these witnesses saw defendant at his home. (Tr. 81, 84).

From the evidence in this case, which was fully and fairly presented to the jury, certainly, we can conclude that there is substantial evidence upon which a jury would be justified in finding a verdict of guilty.

Appellant cites three cases which, he claims, support his contention, *Bufford v. State*, 25 Ala. A. 99, 141 So. 359; *People v. Keller*, 227 Mich. 520, 198 N.W. 939; *Williams v. State*, 61 Okla. Cr. Rep. 396, 68 P 2d 530. In the *Bufford* Case, where a conviction for homicide was set aside, the court found that the evidence was all circumstantial and that it was "so far outweighed by the proven facts, probabilities, presumptions, and indisputable exculpatory circumstances — that we have reached the solemn conclusion that the verdict ought not to be al-

lowed to stand." In *People v. Keller*, a statutory rape case, it appeared to the court that prosecutrix had an ulterior motive for making the charge, that the truth of her story was rendered improbable by facts which she admitted, and which were fairly established by proof, and that prosecutrix had little regard for or appreciation of an oath; therefore, they felt it their duty to grant a new trial. The court in the Williams case reversed a conviction of rape, because it found that practically every witness for the state tended to corroborate the statement made by the defendant.

It is respectfully submitted tht none of the grounds relied on for reversal in the cases cited by appellant exist in the instant case.

POINT II.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE JURY DISREGARDED THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS.

Instructions 5, 6 and 9, are stock instructions to the effect that the testimony of prosecutrix should be weighed with care, that the testimony of defendant should be weighed the same as the testimony of any other witness, that passion and prejudice have no place in the deliberations of a jury, and that to warrant conviction of defendant every reasonable hypothesis other than that of the guilt of defendant must be excluded from the minds of the jurymen.

Respondent respectfully submits there is no evidence that the jury disregarded the above noted instructions, or any of the

instructions submitted by the court. Appellant relies only upon the evidence given by his own witnesses to sustain his claim. This, we think, we have shown to be insufficient to preclude a jury from arriving at a verdict of guilty. Appellant has not shown that the jury did not follow the mandate in these instructions.

POINT III.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE VERDICT IS BASED ON PASSION AND PREJUDICE.

Appellant offers no more evidence in support of his Point III, than that the prosecutrix is a White girl and defendant is a Negro man. The record discloses that defendant was afforded a fair and impartial trial. Respondent submits that an analysis of the transcript discloses that not only was there no effort on the part of the prosecuting attorney to exploit this racial difference, but that the judge was particularly attentive to the rights of the one accused. Further, no expression of the jury appears which could in any way indicate that its verdict was the product of passion or prejudice. In the absence of any appeal to racial prejudice, or to prejudice in any of its forms there is no error. 3 *Am. Jur., Appeal and Error*, § 1081 et seq. The error alleged by appellant is not supported by the record.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully submits that an analysis of the

record and proceedings in this case discloses ample evidence upon which the verdict of the jury may rightfully rest, that the conviction is proper and should be sustained.